# THE VEGETARIAN DIET AND VASCULAR FUNCTION

by

Michelle Zuelch

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the University of Delaware in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Human Nutrition

Spring 2017

© 2017 Michelle Zuelch All Rights Reserved

# THE VEGETARIAN DIET AND VASCULAR FUNCTION

by

Michelle Zuelch

Approved:

Shannon L. Lennon, Ph.D. Professor in charge of thesis on behalf of the Advisory Committee

Approved:

Michael Peterson, Ed.D. Chair of the Department of Behavioral Health and Nutrition

Approved:

Kathleen S. Matt, Ph.D. Dean of the College of Health Sciences

Approved:

Ann L. Ardis, Ph.D. Senior Vice Provost for Graduate and Professional Education

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank my family, friends, and my advisor. First, my parents, Amy and Warren, for supporting me throughout my endeavors; thank you for your encouragement in furthering my education and showing me that, with hard work, anything is possible. I thank my grandparents, Phyllis and Shelly, for teaching me to be strong and independent, my siblings, Laura and Matthew, for their interest in my work and willingness to help out, and my friends, Siobhan and Kyle, for their endless emotional support and optimism. I would like to thank my lab mates, Katarina and Alexis, for joining me on this journey and becoming my close friends in the process, and for providing continuous positive reinforcement. I would also like to thank everybody from the Cardiovascular Physiology Lab for their patience and generosity in offering their time and assistance. Finally, I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Lennon, who provided me with the opportunity to work with her in the Cardiovascular Nutrition Lab. The experience I gained over the past two years has surpassed any and all of my original expectations, and was the catalyst for the decision to pursue my PhD.

Thank you Delaware for another phenomenal two years, and another degree!

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

LIST LIST	OF TABLES OF FIGURES	vi vii vii
ADS		
Chap	ter	
1	INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND	1
	<ul><li>1.1 Cardiovascular Disease and Risk Factors</li><li>1.2 The Endothelium</li></ul>	1
	1.2.1 Vascular Function and Cardiovascular Risk	
	1.2.2 Assessment of Vascular Function	4
	1.3 Diet and Cardiovascular Risk	6
	1.3.1 The Vegetarian Diet and Cardiovascular Risk	7
	<ul><li>1.3.2 Red Meat Consumption and Cardiovascular Risk</li><li>1.3.3 Proposed Mechanisms</li></ul>	11
	1.4 Aims and Hypotheses	15
2	METHODS	17
	2.1 Subjects	17
	2.2 Visit 1: Informed Consent and Subject Screening	17
	2.2.1 Diet Analysis	18
	2.3 Visit 2: Assessment of Vascular Function	19
	2.3.1 Pulse Wave Analysis	19
	2.3.2 Carotid-To-Femoral Pulse Wave Velocity	20
	2.3.3 Brachial Artery Flow-Mediated Dilation	21
	2.3.4 Passive Leg Movement	21
	2.3.5 Blood Analysis	22
	2.4 Statistical Analysis	23

3	RESULTS	24
	3.1 Subject Characteristics	24
	3.2 Diet History	25
	3.3 Assessment of Vascular Function	27
	3.3.1 Endothelial Function	27
	3.3.2 Arterial Stiffness and Wave Reflection	29
	3.4 Blood Chemistry/Lipid Panel	
4	DISCUSSION	
	4.1 Diet History	
	4.2 Blood Pressure	
	4.3 Endothelial Function	
	4.3.1 Brachial Artery Flow-Mediated Dilation	
	4.3.2 Passive Leg Movement	
	4.4 Arterial Stiffness	
	4.5 Anthropometric and Biochemical Parameters	
	4.6 Limitations	40
	4.7 Conclusions	40
REFE	RENCES	41

# Appendix

A INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD (IRB) APPROVAL LETTER	60
B MEDICAL HISTORY FORM	61
C GLOBAL PHYSICAL ACTIVITY QUESTIONNAIRE	62
D MENSTRUAL CYCLE QUESTIONNAIRE	65

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1 Subject Characteristics	25	
Table 3.2 Diet History	26	
Table 3.3 Flow-Mediated Dilation	27	
Table 3.4 Passive Leg Movement		
Table 3.5 Pulse Wave Analysis and Pulse Wave Velocity	29	
Table 3.6 Blood Chemistry and Lipid Panel		

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3.1 Flow-Mediated Dilation	27
Figure 3.2 Passive Leg Movement	28
Figure 3.3 Pulse Wave Velocity	29

#### ABSTRACT

The health benefits of vegetarian diets are well documented. As compared with their omnivorous counterparts, vegetarians have lower body weight, blood pressure (BP) and cardiovascular disease risk, however, the exact mechanisms of these benefits remain unclear. It is hypothesized that the vegetarian diet may protect the endothelium, which is significant in that vascular endothelial dysfunction is an underlying factor in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis and high blood pressure (BP). Therefore, the purpose of this study was to determine if individuals who have followed a vegetarian diet for at least five years have improved vascular function when compared to a non-vegetarian diet containing red meat in apparently healthy individuals. Vegetarianism (V) was defined as the absence of meat, poultry, and fish from the diet. Omnivorism (O) was defined as habitual red meat consumption of at least two times per week. Subjects, both men and women, between the ages of 18-45 years were recruited. Assessment of vascular function included brachial artery flow-mediated dilation (FMD), passive leg movement (PLM), pulse wave analysis (PWA), and carotid-to-femoral pulse wave velocity (PWV). A total of 18 subjects, 8 lacto-ovo-vegetarians (age  $25.9\pm2.8$  yr; BMI  $21.8\pm0.8$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and 10 habitual red meat eaters (age  $23.3\pm1.2$  yr; BMI  $23.4\pm0.5$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>), completed the study. Omnivores consumed on average three servings of red meat per week. Significant differences in macronutrient consumption existed between groups with vegetarians consuming more carbohydrate, less fat and protein than omnivores even when normalized for energy intake. Endothelial function as assessed by FMD (O,  $8.91\pm3.67\%$ ; V, 7.65 $\pm3.85\%$ ) was not statistically different nor was PLM as assessed by peak leg blood flow (O,  $681.1 \pm 153.7$ ; V,  $543.0 \pm 110.2$ ) between groups. Brachial systolic BP (O, 118  $\pm 4$ ; V,  $106 \pm 4$ ; p<0.05) and central systolic BP (V, 99 $\pm 3$  mmHg; O,  $108\pm 3$  mmHg; p<0.05) were significantly different. However, no differences in arterial stiffness as assessed by PWA and PWV were seen. In conclusion, following a vegetarian diet for at least five years was associated with improved systolic BP however these differences did not translate to significant differences in vascular function when compared to a non-vegetarian diet including habitual red-meat consumption in healthy individuals.

#### Chapter 1

#### INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

#### 1.1 Cardiovascular Disease and Risk Factors

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the number one cause of death in the U.S. (Mozaffarian et al., 2016). More than 1 in every 3 adults, an estimated 85.6 million Americans, have at least one type of CVD (Mozaffarian et al., 2016) and by the year 2030, the percentage of the population suffering from CVD is projected to approach 44% (Mozaffarian et al., 2016). CVD is an underlying cause of death for one third of deaths in the U.S., claiming 2,200 lives each day (Mozaffarian et al., 2016). Associated costs of CVD in the U.S. totals an estimated \$316.6 billion annually (Mozaffarian et al., 2016). Risk factors include family history and genetics, age, hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, hyperlipidemia, Diabetes Mellitus, tobacco use, physical inactivity, sub-optimal nutrition, and overweight and obesity (Mozaffarian et al., 2016).

Several epidemiologic studies indicate that red meat intake is associated with increased cardiovascular risk (Ashaye et al., 2011; Bernstein et al., 2010; Chang-Claude et al., 2005; Kontogianni et al., 2007; Micha et al., 2010; Pan et al., 2012; Tuso et al., 2015; Van Dam et al., 2002). Further, a number of these studies demonstrate that this risk is increased proportionately with red meat intake, suggesting a positive linear correlation between red meat consumption and CVD risk (Ashaye et al., 2011; Bernstein et al., 2010; Chang-Claude et al., 2005; Kontogianni et al., 2007; Micha et al., 2010; Pan et al., 2012; Van Dam et al., 2002). Hence, diets with minimal to no red meat consumption may lessen the risk of CVD.

#### **1.2** The Endothelium

The endothelium is a monolayer of cells lining the blood vessels. It is a large, paracrine organ, playing a vital role in the regulation of vascular tone, cell growth, platelet and leukocyte interactions, and thrombogenicity (Corretti et al., 2002; Libby et al., 2007). A primary function of the endothelium is to maintain vascular homeostasis. Homeostasis is maintained via equilibrium of vasodilators, namely nitric oxide (NO), and vasoconstrictors, including endothelin, thromboxane A<sub>2</sub> (TxA<sub>2</sub>) and prostaglandin H<sub>2</sub> (PGH<sub>2</sub>) (Libby et al., 2002; Shimokawa, 1999). Recognition of an endothelium-derived relaxing factor, later identified as NO can be credited to the research of Furchgott and Zawadzki (Furchgott & Zawadzki, 1980; Mortensen et al., 2012). The functional importance of the endothelium was first discovered by its effect on vascular tone (Anderson et al., 1995).

Nitric oxide, arguably the most critical substance released by the endothelium, is a potent vasodilator. Stimulation of the endothelium and associated specialized ion channels, such as calcium-activated potassium channels, open in response to shear stress, allowing increased entry of calcium (Cooke et al., 1991). The presence of calcium activates the enzyme endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), which catalyzes the conversion of L-arginine to L-citrulline thereby producing NO (Pohl et al., 1985; Joannides et al., 1995; Chhabra, 2009). Cofactors involved in this reaction include

nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADPH), tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4), flavin adenine mono- and dinucleotides (FMN/FAD), and zinc (Félétou, 2011). Vasodilation in response to shear stress or increased blood flow is known as flow-mediated dilation, and is mediated by NO derived from the endothelium (Corretti et al., 2002).

#### **1.2.1 Vascular Function and Cardiovascular Risk**

Loss of regulatory function by the endothelium is a risk factor for the development of atherosclerosis, and ultimately, CVD (Widlansky et al., 2003; Chhabra, 2009; Corretti et al., 2002). Endothelial dysfunction describes the partial or total loss of balance between vasoconstrictors and vasodilators, growth promoting and inhibiting factors, and pro and anti-atherogenic factors (Quyyumi, 1998), thereby reducing the production of NO (Lerman & Burnett Jr., 1992; Levine et al., 1995). Since the discovery of NO, it has become evident that changes in its bioavailability play an important role in the development of atherosclerosis, as NO is a key marker of endothelial function and dysfunction (Mudau et al., 2012). Reduced NO formation inhibits the response of the endothelium to vasodilatory stimuli, thereby inhibiting vasodilation (Mudau et al., 2012). Being an early, and reversible initial step in the progression of atherosclerosis and subsequent CVD, early identification of endothelial dysfunction is essential in the prevention of disease progression (Mudau et al., 2012). The assessment of endotheliumdependent vasodilation has emerged as a reliable, non-invasive indicator of endothelial health (Widlansky et al., 2003). Risk factors associated with attenuation of endotheliumdependent vasodilation include smoking, age, hypertension, hyperglycemia, and family

history of atherosclerotic disease. Inflammatory and diet-related factors such as high fat intake have also been identified as risk factors of endothelial dysfunction (Steinberg et al., 1996; Widlansky et al., 2003).

#### 1.2.2 Assessment of Vascular Function

Due to its critical roles in maintaining vascular homeostasis, assessing endothelial function is important, particularly in evaluating cardiovascular risk (Widlansky et al., 2003). Brachial artery FMD is a technique used to measure endothelial-dependent dilation. Measurement of brachial artery FMD in humans correlates well with invasively measured endothelial function of the coronary arteries (Anderson et al., 1995). During assessment of FMD, vasodilation in the brachial artery is stimulated as a result of the release of NO from the endothelium in response to reactive hyperemia and shear stress (Anderson et al., 1995; Corretti et al., 2002). Impaired NO-mediated vascular function is considered an early risk biomarker of CVD (Mozaffarian et al., 2016).

In addition to FMD, PLM is an alternative approach to assess NO-mediated vascular function, and is comparable with FMD (Rossman et al., 2016; Trinity et al., 2012). Passively moving the leg stimulates increases in leg blood flow (LBF) in the femoral artery that are NO-dependent (Trinity et al., 2012). In a study assessing the construct validity of PLM (Rossman et al., 2016), peak change in leg blood flow was significantly correlated with brachial artery and superficial femoral artery FMD, suggesting that PLM provides an analogous indicator of vascular health when compared with FMD (Rossman et al., 2016).

PWA and PWV are considered the standard methods for evaluating arterial stiffness (Kim et al., 2014). Research demonstrates that arterial stiffness measured by PWA and PWV predicts risk of cardiovascular mortality and future cardiovascular events (Vlachopoulos, Aznaouridis, & Stefanadis, 2010; Wang et al., 2010). PWA provides an estimation of the augmentation index (AI), a measure of wave reflection and arterial stiffness (Kim et al., 2014; Laurent et al., 2006; Townsend et al., 2015; Williams et al., 2006). Aortic stiffening leads to loss of normal impedance between the normally pliable aorta and stiff muscular arteries (Townsend et al., 2015). This reduces the amount of wave reflection at the interface between the aorta and proximal branch vessels, increasing pulsatile energy into the periphery, thereby damaging the vessels (Mitchell et al., 2004; Mitchell et al., 2010; Mitchell et al., 2011; Townsend et al., 2015). Arterial stiffness, a major determinant of vascular impedance, is used in combination with the amplitude and timing of wave reflections to determine AI (Townsend et al., 2015). PWV, considered the gold standard for measuring arterial stiffness, assesses the velocity of the pulse wave traveling between the carotid and femoral artery (Townsend et al., 2015). Decreased arterial elasticity and increased stiffness is indicated by a greater pulse wave velocity between these sites (Kim et al., 2014; Laurent et al., 2006). For elastic conduits, the wave velocity is related to the stiffness of the wall, therefore alterations in stiffness modulates the pressure relationships (Townsend et al., 2015).

#### **1.3** Diet and Cardiovascular Risk

The American Heart Association (AHA) describes seven health factors and behaviors, including smoking, having uncontrolled serum glucose, elevated blood pressure and cholesterol, poor diet quality, and being physical inactive, overweight or obese, as being significant contributors to cardiovascular risk (Mozaffarian et al., 2016). According to the U.S. Burden of Disease Collaborators (2013), poor scores related to each of these factors leads to substantial morbidity and mortality in the U.S. Notably, the primary risk factor related to disease burden was found to be suboptimal diet (Mozaffarian et al., 2016; U.S. Burden of Disease Collaborators, 2013). More specifically, insufficient intakes of fruits, vegetables, whole grains, nuts and seeds, in addition to excessive intakes of sodium have been determined to be major contributors to poor diet quality (Mozaffarian et al., 2016).

In addition, the AHA has proposed a series of dietary goals to help Americans increase their diet quality. Goals include meeting recommendations for intakes of fruit, vegetables, and whole grains, and not exceeding recommended limits for intakes of sodium, saturated fat, and processed meat (Mozaffarian et al., 2016). Between 2003 and 2012, the prevalence of American adults meeting these goals (defined as a healthy diet score >80) improved in the U.S., although the percentages remain extremely low (Mozaffarian et al., 2016). Scores on the dietary metric for cardiovascular health showed that the proportion of individuals with poor scores was decreasing steadily (from 50.3% to 41.0%) as healthy diet scores were increasing (from 0.7% to 1.5%) (Mozaffarian et al., 2016).

A report by the U.S. Dietary Guidelines Advisory Committee (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2015) recently summarized the evidence for the benefits of a healthful dietary pattern on a range of cardiometabolic and other disease outcomes. They concluded that a healthy diet is higher in fruits, vegetables, whole grains, low-fat or nonfat dairy, seafood, legumes, and nuts and lower in red meat, refined grains and added sugars. A report by the U.S. Burden of Disease Collaborators (U.S. Burden of Disease Collaborators, 2013) estimated the impact of all major modifiable risk factors on mortality and morbidity in the United States from 1990 to 2010 and determined that suboptimal diet was the leading cause of both mortality and disability-adjusted life years (DALY) lost, exceeding even tobacco. In 2010, a total of 678,000 deaths of all causes were attributable to suboptimal diet. This was based on fourteen various components of dietary intake. Specifically, when "high processed meat intake" was analyzed as a risk factor, relative risk for morbidity and mortality for CVD was increased by 1.86 fold amongst 25-29 year olds, and 1.79 fold in 30-34 year olds per 50g/day processed meat intake increase.

#### **1.3.1 The Vegetarian Diet and Cardiovascular Risk**

The plant-based, vegetarian diet has become recognized as a healthier alternative to a diet laden with meat (Tuso et al., 2015). Traditionally, vegetarianism is interpreted as the avoidance of meat, however, different types of vegetarian diets exist (McEvoy, et al., 2012). The lacto-ovo-vegetarian diet is characterized by the avoidance of meat, poultry, and fish, and allowance of dairy products and eggs. Other subsets of vegetarian groups include pescatarians, or those who include fish, and vegan, those who abstain from all foods of animal origin, including dairy products and eggs in addition to meat, poultry, and fish (McEvoy et al., 2012; Le & Sabaté, 2014).

Vegetarian diets confer protection against CVD, cardiometabolic risk factors, certain types of cancers and mortality (Le & Sabaté, 2014). Generally, a plant-based diet is low in fat, cholesterol, sodium, and sugar, and as a result, is associated with decreased risk of CVD (Tuso et al., 2015). As compared with omnivores, those who follow a vegetarian diet have lower body mass, blood pressure, LDL-cholesterol, and incidence of cardiovascular events (Lin et al., 2001). This association is well documented in the literature and demonstrated in several large-scale studies nationwide. The most wellknown include the Adventist Health Studies amongst Seventh Day Adventists in California (Beeson et al., 1989; Butler et al., 2008; Fraser, 1999; Orlich & Fraser, 2014; Phillips & Kuzma, 1977), The Health Food Shoppers Study (Key et al., 1996), the Oxford Vegetarian Study (Thorogood et al., 1994) in Great Britain, The European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition–Oxford (EPIC-Oxford), which was done throughout Europe (Crowe et al., 2013), and the Heidelberg Vegetarian Study (Chang-Claude et al., 1992) in Germany.

Three prospective studies have examined the mortality of vegetarians in Britain, and mortality from ischemic heart disease (IHD) was lower in lacto-ovo-vegetarians in all three studies (Appleby et al., 1999; Key et al., 1996; Key et al., 2003; Thorogood et al., 1994). The EPIC-Oxford cohort, which is the most recent and includes the largest number of vegetarians of any comparable study in the world, reported that vegetarians

had a 32% lower risk of IHD than nonvegetarians, which was adjusted for sex, age, body mass index (BMI), smoking, and the presence of cardiovascular risk factors (Crowe et al., 2013). The reduced mortality seen in the vegetarian population may be related to their serum cholesterol concentrations, which was also reduced in all three cohorts (Key et al., 2003).

Similar to British vegetarians, vegetarians of the Seventh Day Adventist population experience lower rates of CVD and risk factors compared to their nonvegetarian counterparts. In all three Adventist cohorts, (Beeson et al., 1989; Butler et al., 2008; Fraser, 1999; Orlich & Fraser, 2014; Phillips & Kuzma, 1977) lacto-ovovegetarians experienced a decreased risk of hypertension, IHD, and all-cause mortality (Le & Sabaté, 2014). In the context of the Adventist studies, vegetarians were defined as lacto-ovo-vegetarian. In the Adventist Health Study, lacto-ovo-vegetarian men had a 37% reduced risk of developing IHD (Fraser, 1999). Most recently in the Adventist Health Study-2 (AHS-2), both male and female lacto-ovo-vegetarians had reduced risk for allcause mortality and in men for CVD mortality (Orlich & Fraser, 2014). Results from the Adventist cohorts demonstrate an association that is consistent over several years and in an ethnically diverse population (Orlich et al., 2013). Further, vegetarian diets were associated with lower BMI and lower incidence of hypertension, IHD, type 2 diabetes, metabolic syndrome, all-cause mortality, and certain cancers (Le & Sabaté, 2014; Orlich & Fraser, 2014; Phillips & Kuzma, 1977).

A similar decrease in mortality has been reported amongst vegetarians in Germany. The Heidelberg study, which included 1,904 subjects, observed that mortality

from all causes and CVD were lower among those leading a lacto-ovo-vegetarian lifestyle. This was confirmed after 5 and 11 years of follow-up (Chang-Claude et al., 1992). The most significant reduction in mortality was found for CVD. In particular, IHD mortality was reduced to one third that of expected (Chang-Claude et al., 1992).

A collaborative analysis of 5 of these prospective cohorts, including 76,172 participants, concluded that both incidence of and mortality from CVD was lower in individuals following a vegetarian diet (Key et al., 1999). When compared to those who regularly consume meat, mortality from IHD was 34% lower in lacto-ovo-vegetarians (Key et al., 1999), or those who do not consume meat, poultry or fish, but do consume eggs and dairy products. This lower mortality among vegetarians was restricted to those following the diet for greater than 5 years, and was not significantly impacted by confounding factors such as BMI, exercise level, education level or alcohol use (Key et al., 1999). In addition, a meta-analysis of 7 studies including 124,706 participants confirmed that mortality from IHD was significantly lower in the vegetarian population (Huang et al., 2012). Huang et al. (2012) reported that all-cause and circulatory disease mortality was 9% and 16% lower, respectively, in vegetarians when compared to their nonvegetarian counterparts. The significant and consistent associations observed coupled with the absence of confounding factors suggests that the lower mortality from IHD can primarily be attributed to dietary differences amongst vegetarian and nonvegetarian groups (Key et al., 1999).

The vegetarian diet is becoming more widely recognized for its benefits on health. Whether it be due to the avoidance of animal product or the emphasis on plant-based

foods, vegetarian diets are protective against CVD, certain types of cancers and all-cause mortality (Le & Sabaté, 2014). As compared with omnivores, individuals who follow a vegetarian diet have lower body weight, blood pressure, LDL-cholesterol, and incidence of and mortality from cardiovascular events (Lin et al., 2001). Its positive impact on health has been well-documented in several large-scale studies (Beeson et al., 1989; Butler et al., 2008; Chang-Claude et al., 1992; Crowe et al., 2013; Fraser, 1999; Key et al., 1996; Orlich & Fraser, 2014; Phillips & Kuzma, 1977; Thorogood et al., 1994) that are key pioneers in research efforts of the vegetarian population and impact of this diet.

#### 1.3.2 Red Meat Consumption and Cardiovascular Risk

Substantial evidence from epidemiological studies show that meat intake, particularly red meat, is associated with increased risk of CVD (Micha et al., 2010). A number of comprehensive, well-known studies comparing the vegetarian dietary pattern with that of omnivores define high intake as consumption greater than once per week (Beeson et al., 1989; Butler et al., 2008; Crowe et al., 2013; Fraser, 1999; Key et al., 1996; Orlich & Fraser, 2014; Phillips & Kuzma, 1977; Thorogood et al., 1994). In a 21year follow-up of a German cohort, regular meat intake (defined as consumption >3 times per week) was associated with increased risk of mortality from IHD (Chang-Claude et al., 2005). This risk was significant and trended upward with increased consumption levels of meat (Chang-Claude et al., 2005). An association between consumption of meat and mortality from CVD was observed in the three British vegetarian studies, and was significant in a pooled analysis of five prospective studies, including a follow-up of the German study (Chang-Claude et al., 2005). These findings are supported by both the Nurses' Health Study and Physician's Health Study, large-scale studies that concluded that higher intakes of red meat were significantly associated with elevated CVD risk in the U.S. (Ashaye et al., 2011; Bernstein et al., 2010). Pan et al. (2012) investigated this association in the Nurse's Health Study in combination with another large prospective cohort, the Health Professionals Follow-up Study (Van Dam et al., 2002). It was determined that a higher intake of red meat, analyzed in quintiles increasing by 1 serving/day, was associated with a significantly increased risk of all-cause and CVD mortality in both men and women. This was for both processed and unprocessed red meat, although greater risk was observed for processed meat (Pan et al., 2012). Participants in the highest quintile of red meat intake experienced a 36% increased risk of CVD when compared with the lowest quintile (Pan et al., 2012). In another study with similar results, food-specific analysis demonstrated that red meat consumption resulted in 52% increased IHD risk, even after controlling for several potential confounding risk factors (Kontogianni et al., 2007). Participants in this study who consumed >8 portions of red meat per month had 4.9 times greater risk of IHD than those who consumed <4 portions of red meat per month (Kontogianni et al., 2007).

#### **1.3.3** Proposed Mechanisms

A plant-based, vegetarian diet avoiding meat, particularly red meat, may exert protective effects against CVD by both increasing factors that are protective to and reducing those that are deleterious to the endothelium (Tuso et al., 2015). Mechanisms

whereby vegetarian diets are protective of the endothelium and result in improved vascular function are thought to include prevention of vascular endothelial cell (VEC) injury, low density lipoprotein (LDL) oxidation, and macrophage activation.

VEC injury may be preventable by consuming foods that are low in sugar, salt, and fat (Tuso et al., 2015). According to the U.S. Burden of Disease Collaborators (2013), the most important dietary risks in the U.S. are diets low in fruits, vegetables, nuts and seeds, and high in sodium, processed meats, and trans fats. This is in contrast to the vegetarian diet which is characterized by high consumption of fruit, vegetables, legumes, nuts, grains and soy protein-food components (McEvoy et al., 2012). Nutrients associated with an increased risk of vascular disease, such as total fat, saturated fat, trans fat and cholesterol are highest in nonvegetarians (Bhupathiraju & Tucker, 2011; Tuso et al., 2015). In contrast, nutrients that are associated with reduced risk of chronic disease, such as fiber and antioxidants, are higher in those consuming a vegetarian diet (McEvoy et al., 2012; Rizzo et al., 2013; Tuso et al., 2015). Differences in intake of specific micronutrients is thought to positively impact those following a vegetarian diet. For example, intake of potassium, which is considered an important nutrient in the prevention of hypertension, is greater in the vegetarian dietary pattern (Rizzo et al., 2013). Nutrient composition and BMI between vegetarians and non-vegetarians is markedly different, despite similar energy intake, suggesting diet composition impacts weight and BMI independent of total energy consumed (Rizzo et al., 2013).

The vegetarian diet pattern may preserve endothelial function via the consumption of antioxidant-containing fruits and vegetables. Increased intake of antioxidants,

including polyphenols, is associated with decreased risk for CVD (Tuso et al., 2015; Mente et al., 2009; Vita, 2005). Polyphenols exert protective effects on VECs by promoting NO production and down-regulating the oxidation of LDL, LDL-induced monocyte adhesion, and transformation to macrophages and foam cells that leads to the development of atherosclerosis (Ginter & Simko, 2012; Tuso et al., 2015; Vita, 2005). Antioxidant rich diets are thought to also prevent atherogenic events such as oxidative stress, inflammation, smooth muscle cell proliferation, and platelet aggregation (Ginter & Simko, 2012; Šebeková et al., 2006; Vita, 2005).

Finally, decreasing consumption of red meat aids in prevention of macrophage activation (Tuso et al., 2015). Studies show a mechanistic association between intestinal microbial metabolism of red meat components, specifically choline and L-carnitine, and CVD (Koeth et al., 2013). This association stems from the production of the proatherogenic metabolite, trimethylamine-N-oxide (TMAO) (Koeth et al., 2013). Elevated TMAO levels have been associated with an increased risk of major cardiovascular events (Yang et al., 2011). TMAO causes macrophage activation (Tuso et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2011) resulting in atherosclerosis, and has been identified as a predictive marker of CVD (Tuso et al., 2015; Yang et al., 2011). Additionally, nonvegetarians have been found to produce more TMAO than their vegetarian counterparts who consumed a primarily plant-based diet (Tang et al., 2013). However, research suggests that following a plant-based diet and the development of a plant-based diet microbiota will inhibit the conversion of both choline and L-carnitine to TMAO, even with the occasional consumption of meat (Tuso et al., 2015). Hence, the metabolism of these components to TMAO by the intestinal microbiome is associated with atherosclerosis in omnivores, but not in vegetarians, further supporting the beneficial effects of a plant-based diet (Tuso et al., 2015).

Many dietary and lifestyle factors, including high intakes of meat and fat, are implicated in the development of CVD (Tuso et al., 2015). Research suggests that lifestyle modification and incorporation of a plant-based diet may play an important role in disease prevention (Tuso et al., 2013; Tuso et al., 2015). Enhancing the ratio of protective to injurious factors via modification of diet is a beneficial approach in CVD prevention and treatment (Tuso et al., 2015).

# 1.4 Aims and Hypotheses

Several large studies (Beeson et al., 1989; Butler et al., 2008; Chang-Claude et al., 1992; Appleby et al., 1999) provide evidence that those who follow a vegetarian diet have lower blood pressure, body weight, and lower incidence of heart disease and cancer. However, to date, there is little research examining differences in vascular function amongst vegetarians and omnivores. We were therefore interested in investigating whether following a long-term vegetarian diet resulted in better vascular health as compared to otherwise similar omnivores that may explain differences in disease risk and mortality seen in these large studies. The following aim and hypothesis was proposed:

*Specific Aim*: To determine if vascular function is greater in individuals who have consumed a vegetarian diet for at least five years as compared to those consuming a non-vegetarian diet including habitual red-meat consumption.

*Hypothesis*: Individuals following a vegetarian diet will have improved endothelial function and reduced arterial stiffening as assessed by brachial artery FMD, PWA, PWV, and PLM.

# Chapter 2

## **METHODS**

#### 2.1 Cardiovascular Disease and Risk Factors

Subjects, both men and women, between the ages of 18 and 45 who met the inclusion criteria were invited to participate, including both vegetarians and omnivores. Inclusion criteria for vegetarians included at least 5 years of following the diet with no occasional consumption of meat, poultry, or fish and for omnivores to consume red meat at least 2 times per week. Exclusion criteria for all included a history of heart disease, high blood pressure, diabetes, cancer or kidney disease, use of heart or blood pressure medications, obesity (BMI  $\geq$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), pregnancy, lactation, being a smoker, or being a highly-trained endurance athlete.

Participants were asked to come to the Health Sciences Complex at the Science, Technology, and Advanced Research (STAR) campus at the University of Delaware for two visits, that included a screening visit and a lab testing visit.

# 2.2 Visit 1: Informed Consent and Subject Screening

Subjects were asked to come to the Health Sciences Complex at the STAR Campus to read and sign the informed consent form and fill out a medical history questionnaire. Once a participant was found to qualify for the study in visit 1, they were asked to return for visit 2. During the screening, eligible participants were asked to complete the Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPAQ) and the Diet History Questionnaire II (DHQ-II) detailing habitual dietary intake. Female subjects were also asked to fill out a form describing their menstrual cycle and date of their last menses. Height, weight, and body composition were assessed during this visit. Body composition was assessed using the method of bioelectrical impedance via a Tanita scale (TBF-310GS Total Body Composition Analyzer). Resting BP was assessed using the GE DinaMap ProCare 100 Patient Monitor.

#### 2.2.1 Diet Analysis

Subjects completed the Diet History Questionnaire-II (DHQ-II), a food frequency questionnaire, for the purposes of determining vegetarianism or omnivore status. Vegetarianism, in this study, was defined as the absence of meat, poultry, and fish from the diet. The DHQ-II is a web-based questionnaire offered through the National Cancer Institute at the National Institutes of Health. It included 135 food items, questions about portion size, and had a period of recall of 1 year. Subjects followed automated skip patterns based on their responses, and were allowed to navigate within the tool to modify responses at any time. Data quality was ensured as the questionnaire could not be completed with missing or inconsistent responses (National Institutes of Health, 2015). Data collected from the DHQ-II was analyzed using Diet\*Calc, DHQ-II associated analysis software. Diet\*Calc estimated intakes of both nutrients and food groups. The software consists of three components: the Diet\*Calc Analysis, which generates nutrient estimates, the Data Dictionary Editor, which contains information necessary to interpret

data, including file locations and coding information, and the Database Utility, a program that allows importation of nutrient data into the database (National Institutes of Health, 2015).

# 2.3 Visit 2: Assessment of Vascular Function

Subjects came to the Vascular Physiology Lab at the STAR campus following an overnight fast (6-hour fast for afternoon visits), no caffeine or alcohol consumption for the past 12 hours, and no exercise for the last 24 hours. Weight, body composition, and blood pressure were assessed again. Blood was drawn to measure hemoglobin and hematocrit, cholesterol, and triglycerides. Subjects rested comfortably in a supine position for 20 minutes prior to the vascular function measurements. Assessment of vascular function included PWA to determine augmentation index (AI), carotid-tofemoral PWV, brachial artery FMD, and PLM. Women were tested in the early follicular phase of the menstrual cycle, determined via the Menstrual Cycle Form at visit 1.

#### 2.3.1 Pulse Wave Analysis

Pulse wave analysis, a measure of arterial stiffness, was used to determine wave reflection as assessed by AI. For this test, the subject was in the supine position with one arm parallel to the body, palm facing up. A blood pressure cuff was placed over the brachial artery and pressure was recorded. A central aortic pressure waveform was synthesized from the measured brachial artery pressure waveform using a generalized transfer function (SphygmoCor, AtCor Medical, Sydney, Australia). The amplitude of central systolic arterial wave reflection was estimated by the AI, which was obtained from the configuration of the generated aortic pressure waveform. In adults of average height, a distinct inflection point (Pi) occurs in systole either before or after peak systolic pressure (Ps) (Salles-Cunha, 1998; Ferreira, 2014). AI is calculated as (Ps-Pi)/(Ps-Pd), where Ps = systolic pressure, Pd = diastolic pressure, and Pi = pressure at the inflection point. Mean arterial pressure (MAP), heart rate (HR), and arterial pressure (AP) were also measured.

#### 2.3.2 Carotid-To-Femoral Pulse Wave Velocity

PWV is a measure of regional aortic stiffness. Carotid-to-femoral pulse wave velocity (PWV) was measured by simultaneously recording ECG and a carotid and femoral pressure wave. The subject was in the supine position. A blood pressure cuff was placed over the femoral artery. A cloth tape measure was used to measure the distances between the carotid artery and sternal notch, and the sternal notch and the femoral artery. A tonometer was placed on the carotid artery, and a carotid and femoral pressure wave was recorded. The distance from the carotid measurement point to the sternal notch was subtracted from the distance from the sternal notch to the femoral measurement point and used as propagation distance. The time delay from the peak of the R wave on the ECG to the upstroke of the carotid pressure wave was subtracted from the time delay from the geak of the R wave on the ECG to the upstroke of the femoral pressure wave. PWV was calculated as propagation distance/time delay.

#### 2.3.3 Brachial Artery Flow-Mediated Dilation

Brachial artery FMD was used to assess endothelium-dependent dilation according to established guidelines (Corretti et al., 2002). Endothelium-dependent dilation is the vasodilatory response to hyperemia and was measured using a 10 MHz linear phased array ultrasound transducer (Terason, uSmart 3300). The subject was in the supine position with one arm extended perpendicular to the body, palm facing up. The brachial artery was imaged above the antecubital fossa in the longitudinal plane (Correti et al., 2002). After recording baseline images, a cuff placed just below the antecubital crease was inflated to 200 mmHg. The cuff remained inflated for 5 minutes, and then released. Images continued to be recorded through cuff release, and for 2 minutes following deflation. Flow-mediated dilation (FMD) was used as a measure of endothelial dependent function and expressed as a percent change from baseline calculated from vessel diameter data.

#### 2.3.4 Passive Leg Movement

Passive leg movement is a method of assessing NO-mediated vascular function (Trinity et al., 2012). The PLM protocol was performed with the subject in an upright/seated position. It consisted of a 1-minute resting baseline measurement followed by a continuous 2-minute passive leg extension. NO-mediated vasodilation was measured in the femoral artery using an ultrasound system (NextGen LOGIQ e Ultrasound). Continuous PLM was achieved by a member of the research team moving the subject's leg through a 90-degree range of motion at 1 Hertz. The starting position of the leg was in full extension at the knee (i.e. 180-degree) and the first movement served to passively flex the knee (i.e. move to a 90-degree knee joint angle). Before the start of and throughout the protocol, subjects were encouraged to remain passive and resist the urge to assist with leg movement. To avoid the startle reflex and active resistance to the passive movement, subjects were made aware that passive movement will take place in 1 minute, but to minimize the chance of an anticipatory response, they were not informed of exactly when this movement was to initiate. Measurements of femoral arterial blood velocity and vessel diameter were performed in the passively moved leg distal to the inguinal ligament and proximal to the deep and superficial femoral bifurcation. Vessel diameter was determined at a perpendicular angle along the central axis of the scanned area both prior to and during passive movement. Blood velocity was measured using the same transducers with a frequency of 5 MHz. Arterial diameter was measured, and mean velocity ( $V_{mean}$ ) (angle corrected, and intensity-weighted area under the curve) was calculated. Blood flow was calculated using arterial diameter and  $V_{mean}$ .

#### 2.3.5 Blood Analysis

A venous blood sample was taken to measure hemoglobin (HemoCue Hb 201p model, Lake Forest, California, USA), hematocrit (Clay Adams Brand, Readacrit Centrifuge, BD Diagnostics, Sparks, Maryland, USA), and a lipid profile was obtained. Analysis of the lipid profile was done by LabCorp through the Nurse Managed Primary Care Center at the University of Delaware's STAR campus.

# 2.4 Statistical Analysis

Variables of interest included percent change in brachial artery FMD, AI calculated from PWA, PWV, and NO-mediated vasodilation from PLM. Unpaired t-tests were performed to assess differences between the two groups for those variables. Descriptive statistics were presented as means  $\pm$  standard error of the measure. JMP was be used to run the statistical analysis (JMP Pro 13). A *P* value of P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### Chapter 3

#### RESULTS

# 3.1 Subject Characteristics

Eighteen subjects completed this cross-sectional study examining a vegetarian diet compared to a diet containing red meat on vascular function. Of the completed subjects, eight (44%) were lacto-ovo-vegetarians, and ten (56%) were habitual red meat eaters. Amongst vegetarians, number of years following the diet ranged from 6-25 years (14.3  $\pm$  2.5 years). All male subjects fell into the omnivore group and all vegetarians were female. Subjects were mostly White/Caucasian (67%), two were Black/African American (11%), three (17%) were Asian/Asian American, and two (11%) identified with more than one race. Subject characteristics are described in Table 3.1. The differences in height and weight are not unexpected given the sex distribution between the groups. There was a statistically significant difference in vigorous-intensity physical activity between the two groups. Finally, consistent with the literature, brachial systolic BP was different between groups however diastolic BP was not.

Variable	Omnivores	Vegetarians
Demographic Characteristics		
Age, yr	$23.3 \pm 1.2$	$25.9 \pm 2.8$
Sex (M/F)	7/3	0/8*
Height, cm	$179.0 \pm 2.6$	$163.8 \pm 2.0*$
Weight, kg	$75.3 \pm 2.4$	$58.5 \pm 2.2*$
BMI, $kg/m^2$	$23.4 \pm 0.5$	$21.8 \pm 0.8$
Physical Activity, hours/week	$12 \pm 3$	$8 \pm 2$
Vigorous-intensity	$4 \pm 1$	$2 \pm 1*$
Moderate-intensity	$7\pm2$	$5\pm 2$
Hemodynamic Measurements		
Heart rate, beats/min	$64 \pm 4$	$64 \pm 3$
Systolic BP, mmHg	$118 \pm 4$	$106 \pm 4*$
Diastolic BP, mmHg	$71 \pm 3$	$70 \pm 4$
MAP, mmHg	$84 \pm 4$	$82 \pm 3$

# **Table 3.1 Subject Characteristics**

Values are means  $\pm$  SE. BMI, body mass index; BP, blood pressure; MAP, mean arterial pressure. \*p < 0.05.

# 3.2 Diet History

A food frequency questionnaire with a one-year period of recall through the National Cancer Institute was used to assess habitual intake. Dietary data are described in Table 3.2. There were significant differences in intake between groups even when normalized to energy intake (Table 3.2) Further, our habitual red meat eaters consumed  $3 \pm 1$  servings/d of red meat, which exceeded the inclusion criteria for this study. When poultry and fish consumption was added to servings of red meat, omnivores consumed on average  $8 \pm 1$  servings/d.

Variable	Omnivores	Omnivore	Vegetarians	Vegetarian
		Normalized		Normalized
Energy, kcal/d	$2979 \pm 479$	-	$1484 \pm 187*$	-
Macronutrients, %				
Total Carbohydrate	$36 \pm 2$	-	$54 \pm 3$	-
Total Protein	$18 \pm 1$	-	$13 \pm 1*$	-
Total Fat	$39 \pm 1$	-	$34 \pm 2^{*}$	-
SFA	$13 \pm 1$	-	$9 \pm 1*$	-
MUFA	$15 \pm 0$	-	$14 \pm 2$	-
PUFA	$7\pm0$	-	$8 \pm 1$	-
Macronutrients, g				
Total Carbohydrate	$279 \pm 53$	$89 \pm 6$	$193 \pm 21$	$134 \pm 8*$
Total Protein	$132 \pm 21$	$45 \pm 2$	$50 \pm 7*$	$33 \pm 1*$
Total Fat	$128 \pm 20$	$44 \pm 1$	$57 \pm 9*$	$38 \pm 3*$
SFA	$44 \pm 8$	$15 \pm 1$	$15 \pm 3*$	$10 \pm 1*$
MUFA	$48 \pm 7$	$17 \pm 1$	$23 \pm 4*$	$15 \pm 2$
PUFA	$23 \pm 3$	$8 \pm 1$	$13 \pm 3^{*}$	$9 \pm 1$
Nutrient				
Fiber, g	$20 \pm 3$	$7\pm0$	$28 \pm 4$	$19 \pm 3*$
Cholesterol, mg	$637 \pm 120$	$232 \pm 35$	$95 \pm 34*$	$67 \pm 25*$
Na <sup>+</sup> , mg	$4674 \pm 691$	$1604 \pm 48$	$2254 \pm 227*$	$1628 \pm 182$
$K^+$ mg	$3995 \pm 649$	$1375 \pm 89$	$3229 \pm 447$	$2293 \pm 418*$
Mg <sup>+</sup> , mg	$432 \pm 72$	$149 \pm 9$	$422 \pm 61$	$298 \pm 50*$
$Ca^+$ , mg	$1551 \pm 326$	$506 \pm 62$	$913 \pm 132*$	$632 \pm 79$
Vitamin B12, mcg	$9 \pm 2$	$3\pm0$	$2 \pm 1*$	$1 \pm 0^{*}$
Food Group, servings				
Grains	$7 \pm 1$	$2\pm0$	$3 \pm 1*$	$2 \pm 1$
Whole	$1 \pm 0$	$0\pm 0$	$1 \pm 0$	$1 \pm 0^{*}$
Refined	$6 \pm 1$	$2\pm 0$	$2 \pm 0$ *	$2\pm 0$
Meat, poultry, & fish	$8 \pm 1$	$3\pm0$	$0\pm 0*$	$0 \pm 0$ *
Red meat	$3 \pm 1$	$1 \pm 0$	$0\pm 0*$	$0 \pm 0$ *
Dairy	$3 \pm 1$	$1 \pm 0$	$1 \pm 0$	$1\pm 0$
Fruit	$1 \pm 0$	$0\pm 0$	$3 \pm 1$	$2\pm 0*$
Vegetables	$2\pm0$	$1 \pm 0$	$3 \pm 1$	$3 \pm 1$

Values are mean  $\pm$  SE. Normalized data has been normalized to energy intake per 1,000 kcal. When denoting statistical significance, raw vegetarian data was compared to raw omnivore data, and normalized vegetarian data was compared to normalized omnivore data. SFA, saturated fatty acids; MUFA, monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acids; Ca2<sup>+</sup>, calcium; K<sup>+</sup>, potassium; Mg<sup>+</sup>, magnesium; Na<sup>+</sup>, sodium. \*p < 0.05.

# 3.3 Assessment of Vascular Function

# **3.3.1 Endothelial Function**

Endothelial function was examined by performing brachial artery FMD. As

shown in Figure 3.1, percent change in FMD was slightly higher in omnivores

 $(8.91\pm3.67\%)$  than vegetarians  $(7.65\pm3.85\%)$ , however, this was not statistically

significant. Baseline and peak diameters as well as diameter change are shown in Table

3.3 There were no differences between the two groups for these diameters.

### **Table 3.3 Flow-Mediated Dilation**

Variable	Omnivores	Vegetarians
Baseline Brachial Artery Diameter, mm	$4.3 \pm 0.2$	$3.5 \pm 0.1$
Peak Brachial Artery Diameter, mm	$4.7 \pm 0.2$	$3.8 \pm 0.2$
Brachial Artery FMD, $\Delta$ mm	$0.4 \pm 0.0$	$0.3 \pm 0.1$

Values are mean  $\pm$  SE. FMD, flow-mediated dilation.



**Figure 3.1 Flow-Mediated Dilation**
Passive leg movement was used as another approach to assess potential differences in vascular function between vegetarians and omnivores using blood flow in the femoral artery during passive movement of the leg. There were no significant differences in femoral blood flow area under the curve as shown in Table 3.4. Group mean leg blood flow data is shown in Figure 3.2.

#### Table 3.4 Passive Leg Movement

Variable	Omnivores	Vegetarians
Baseline Femoral Artery Blood Flow, mL/min	$268.3 \pm 44.2$	$187.3 \pm 48.6$
Peak Femoral Artery Blood Flow, mL/min	$681.1 \pm 153.7$	$543.0 \pm 110.2$
PLM Area Under the Curve, ml	$125.6 \pm 45.6$	$91.1 \pm 32.7$

Values are mean  $\pm$  SE. \*p < 0.05.



**Figure 3.2 Passive Leg Movement** One minute of resting data was collected before passive movement, and is represented as a mean baseline flow at time -30. The transition from rest to passive movement occurred at time 0 on the *x*-axis. Data was collected second-by-second for time 0-60, followed by 12-second averages for time 60-120.

### 3.3.2 Arterial Stiffness and Wave Reflection

To assess potential differences in stiffness, measures of AI and PWV were performed. There was no significant difference in AI between groups (see Table 3.5). A significant difference was seen in central systolic BP between groups (p < 0.05) demonstrating that vegetarians have a lower pressure centrally. However, there were no difference in other central pressures including diastolic BP or MAP. PWV is shown in Figure 3.3. There was no difference between groups.

 Table 3.5 Pulse Wave Analysis & Pulse Wave Velocity

Variable	Omnivores	Vegetarians
Pulse Wave Analysis		
Central systolic BP, mmHg	$108.1 \pm 3.0$	$98.8 \pm 2.8*$
Central diastolic BP, mmHg	$74.2 \pm 3.6$	$66.5 \pm 4.0$
MAP, mmHg	$82 \pm 3$	$82 \pm 3$
AI, %	$13.9 \pm 3.2$	$6.2 \pm 5.5$
Pulse Wave Velocity, m/s	$5.6 \pm 0.3$	$5.4 \pm 0.4$

Values are means  $\pm$  SE. AI, augmentation index; BP, blood pressure; MAP, mean arterial pressure. \*p < 0.05.



Figure 3.3 Pulse Wave Velocity

## 3.4 Blood Chemistry/Lipid Panel

Blood was drawn at the screening visit to assess iron status and the lipid panel. There were significant differences in hemoglobin, total cholesterol, and triglycerides between vegetarians and omnivores. Hematocrit, HDL-cholesterol, and LDL-cholesterol were not significantly different between the two groups. Blood chemistry and lipid panel values can be found in Table 3.6.

Omnivores	Vegetarians
$14.1 \pm 0.4$	$12.9 \pm 0.5*$
$43 \pm 1$	$41 \pm 1$
$152 \pm 6$	$179 \pm 10*$
$61.5 \pm 3.2$	$68.8 \pm 7.7$
$81.4 \pm 7.3$	$87.4 \pm 10.2$
$46.5 \pm 5.0$	$116.6 \pm 15.8*$
	Omnivores $14.1 \pm 0.4$ $43 \pm 1$ $152 \pm 6$ $61.5 \pm 3.2$ $81.4 \pm 7.3$ $46.5 \pm 5.0$

**Table 3.6 Blood Chemistry and Lipid Panel** 

Values are means  $\pm$  SE. \*p < 0.05.

#### Chapter 4

#### DISCUSSION

The purpose of this study was to determine if vascular function was greater in individuals who have consumed a vegetarian diet for at least five years as compared to those consuming a non-vegetarian diet including habitual red-meat consumption. We hypothesized that endothelial function would be improved and arterial stiffness would be reduced in individuals following a long-term vegetarian diet. Findings from this study indicate no significant difference in vascular function in this small sample of subjects. We did however see a significantly lower brachial and central systolic BP in our vegetarian subjects which is consistent with the purported benefits of a vegetarian diet. This may relate to a reduction in future CVD risk.

#### 4.1 Diet History

As expected, dietary patterns differed substantially between groups. Differences in energy intake can partly be attributed to differences in BMR between sexes (Ferraro et al., 1992), as our vegetarians were all female and less active. Differences can also partly be attributed to diet pattern. Greater consumption of fruits and vegetables, which are less energy dense, was reported in our vegetarian group. Even when normalized to energy intake, there were significant differences in macronutrient (carbohydrate, protein, and fat) intake. Significant differences also persisted in saturated fat, cholesterol, and vitamin B12 intake, which were higher in omnivores, and dietary fiber, potassium, magnesium, and calcium intake, which were higher in vegetarians. This was not unexpected, as the nutrient-density of vegetarian diets is well-documented in the literature (Le & Sabaté, 2014; Melina, Craig, & Levin, 2016; Tuso et al., 2015). Compared to an omnivorous diet, vegetarian diets contain more whole grains, fruits, and vegetables, and less processed high fat, high sodium, and cholesterol-rich items (Lu et al., 2000; Pan et al., 1993; Tuso et al., 2015), as reflected in our results. Further, our habitual red meat eaters consumed 3±1 servings/d of red meat, which exceeded the inclusion criteria for this study, and is above the definition of high red meat intake in accordance with multiple studies in the field (Beeson et al., 1989; Butler et al., 2008; Crowe et al., 2013; Fraser, 1999; Key et al., 1996; Orlich & Fraser, 2014; Phillips & Kuzma, 1977; Thorogood et al., 1994).

#### 4.2 Blood Pressure

Blood pressure was assessed both at the brachial artery and centrally in our subjects. Both brachial and central systolic BP were notably lower in the vegetarian subjects. The findings of the present study are consistent with those of the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension study (Appel et al., 1997; Sacks et al., 1995), which was based on the observation that components of the vegetarian diet, for example diets rich in fruits and vegetables, was associated with a reduced risk of hypertension and reduced systolic and diastolic BP. In the present study, vegetarians consumed 2 more servings/d of both fruits and vegetables than omnivores. Further, diets higher in unsaturated fats, vegetable protein, potassium, magnesium, and dietary fiber, and lower in saturated fats are associated with lower BP (Berkow & Barnard, 2005; Elliott et al., 2006; Stamler et al., 1996; Yokoyama, 2014). Specifically, potassium, which is more abundant in vegetarian diets (Rizzo et al., 2013), has been shown in randomized clinical trials to decrease BP (Aburto et al., 2013; Whelton et al., 1997). Indeed, our vegetarian subjects consumed 67% more potassium than our omnivores even after normalizing for energy intake. It is hypothesized that greater potassium intake increases vasodilation and glomerular filtration rate, and decreases renin levels, renal sodium reabsorption, reactive oxygen species production, and platelet aggregation (McDonough & Nguyen, 2012), thereby decreasing BP. A meta-analysis of 7 controlled trials and 32 observational studies of vegetarians by Yokoyama et al. (2014) found that vegetarianism was associated with a lower systolic BP, a difference of -4.8 mm Hg in controlled trials and -6.9 mm Hg in observational studies, compared with omnivorism. The present study yielded similar results; a difference of -12 mm Hg between groups for systolic BP. Whelton et al. (2002) found that a reduction in systolic BP of just 5 mm Hg resulted in a 9% reduction in coronary heart disease mortality. Reductions in systolic BP is beneficial in that high values (above 115 mm Hg) account for almost half of IHD cases (Murray et al., 2003). Hence, our vegetarian group has a reduced risk for cardiovascular disease.

#### 4.3 Endothelial Function

#### 4.3.1 Brachial Artery Flow-Mediated Dilation

The mean brachial artery FMD of both groups was 8.28±0.92%, which is consistent with other studies investigating healthy adults (Jablonski et al., 2009; Pierce et al., 2009). Further, we controlled for variations in the menstrual cycle, testing all females in the early follicular phase, as FMD has been shown to alter throughout the cycle (Williams et al, 2001). Despite differences in systolic BP, brachial artery FMD, an assessment of conduit artery function, did not differ based on diet in this small sample. This is in contrast to other published work.

Using a similar study design that assessed vascular dilatory function of lacto-ovovegetarians and omnivores, Lin et al. (2001) found significant differences in FMD between sex and age matched groups. Potential reasons for this discrepancy include a larger sample size (n=40), an even distribution of the sexes between groups, and a longer duration following the vegetarian diet (range, 2–21 yrs; mean, 8±5 yrs). Further, this study included relatively older participants (>50 years of age) while our subjects were on average in their 20s. As the degree of vasodilation correlated positively with the number of years on a vegetarian diet, it is possible that our null results were related to our younger sample of vegetarians who have followed a vegetarian diet for less time. These authors also reported that their findings of improved vascular function in vegetarians was dependent on diet alone, and was independent of other known risk factors of atherosclerosis. However, a notable limitation of this study is the lack of diet history or intake data, which is limited to generic Taiwanese nutritional surveys. A recent meta-analysis (Schwingshackl & Hoffman, 2014) found that in 17 trials including 2,300 subjects, those adhering to a diet high in fruits, vegetables, plant proteins, whole grains, and unsaturated fats, and low in red meat had significantly improved flow-mediated dilatation. It is likely with more subjects, we may see differences in vascular function between vegetarians and omnivores.

In a study by Kajikawa et al. (2016), FMD was significantly decreased with increased serum triglyceride levels, suggesting that elevated serum triglycerides may be independently associated with impaired endothelial function. Although our vegetarians consumed less fat, they did have higher serum triglycerides when compared to our omnivores. This can potentially be explained by a significantly higher intake of carbohydrates in our vegetarian group. It has been shown that high carbohydrate diets induce elevations in fasting serum triglycerides and cholesterol (Abbasi et al., 2000; Coulston et al., 1983), and that carbohydrate intake was positively associated with serum lipid concentrations (Lofgren et al., 2005).

Finally, differences in vitamin B12 intake may also impact vascular function. Vegetarians have been shown to have an increased prevalence of vitamin B-12 deficiency (Elmadfa & Singer, 2009; Pawlak et al., 2014). Kwok et al., (2012) demonstrated that individuals with subnormal vitamin B12 status have impaired endothelial function and increased carotid intima-media thickness. In the present study, our vegetarian group did have a significantly lower intake of vitamin B12, a vitamin that is naturally found in animal products. Although we did not include serum B12 in our assessment, none of our vegetarian subjects reported taking vitamin B12 supplements, and intake was

35

significantly lower than omnivores. Kwok et al. (2012) recruited 50 vegetarians of at least 6 years, and treated them with either Vitamin B12 ( $500\mu g/day$ ) or placebo for 12 weeks with a 10-week washout period before crossover. Vitamin B12 supplementation significantly improved brachial FMD ( $6.3\pm1.8\%$  to  $6.9\pm1.9\%$ ) with further improvement to 7.4±1.7% (p<0.0001) after 24 weeks of open label vitamin B12. These results demonstrate that vitamin B12 supplementation in vegetarians with subnormal vitamin B12 status significantly enhances arterial endothelial function (Kwok et al., 2012), and suggest that our lack of significant improvements in endothelial function in vegetarians may be related to vitamin B12 status.

Overall, differences in habitual intake between our two groups was substantial. Vegetarians consumed significantly more dietary fiber, potassium, magnesium, and significantly less total fat, saturated fat, cholesterol, and vitamin B12 than omnivores. Vegetarians also consumed more whole grains, fruits, and vegetables. Although our much smaller sample did not demonstrate an improved endothelial function, other studies show adherence to a diet rich in fruits, vegetables, whole grains and low in red meat, as our vegetarian group is, is associated with significantly improved endothelial function (Schwingshackl & Hoffman, 2014). Although our vegetarians consumed less fat, they did have higher serum triglycerides when compared to our omnivores, which some studies suggest may be inversely related with endothelial function (Kajikawa et al., 2016). In addition, low intakes of vitamin B12, which is associated with impaired endothelial function (Kwok et al., 2012), amongst vegetarians may contribute to our null results. Lastly, vasodilation has been found to be directly, positively correlated with the number of years of vegetarianism in other work (Lin et al., 2001), suggesting that endothelial function in our vegetarian group may show improvements over time.

#### 4.3.2 Passive Leg Movement

Peak femoral artery blood flow (O, 681.1±153.7 mL/min; V, 543.0±110.2 mL/min) and area under the curve (O, 125.6±45.6; V, 91.1±32.7) during PLM, was somewhat consistent with that of other studies in healthy adults (Groot, et al., 2015; McDaniel et al., 2010; Trinity et al., 2012; Rossman et al., 2016). Similar to previous studies (McDaniel et al., 2010; Trinity et al., 2012; Rossman et al., 2016; Venturelli et al., 2012), leg blood flow (LBF) increased at the onset of passive movement (12±1 sec), and remained partially elevated above baseline for the duration of movement. As previously mentioned, our vegetarians were entirely female, and the majority of omnivores were male. Similar to findings by Ives et al. (2013), LBF was not significantly different between sexes. Further, we did control for the menstrual cycle when making our LBF measurements although there are currently no studies demonstrating differences in PLM throughout the menstrual cycle.

#### 4.4 Arterial Stiffness

Arterial stiffness as assessed by PWV and wave reflection as assessed by AI did not significantly differ between groups. Our values for PWV (V, 5.41±0.4 m/s; O, 5.62±0.3 m/s) were consistent with other studies in healthy subjects (Edwards, Roy & Prasad, 2008; Kim et al., 2014). Our values for AI (V, 6.17±15.57%; O, 13.93±9.99%) were also consistent with published work (Kim et al., 2014; Hayward & Kelly, 1997; Smulyan et al., 1998). Kim et al. (2014) determined that differences in markers of arterial stiffness between males and females exist, demonstrating this in a study of Korean individuals who ranged from 17-87 years. Significant differences were found in both AI and PWV based on both sex and age. They reported that PWV was significantly higher in males than in females  $(7.78 \pm 1.16 \text{ vs}, 7.64 \pm 1.15 \text{ m/s}, p = 0.015)$ , reflecting decreased arterial elasticity and increased aortic stiffness (Kim et al., 2014), which is agreeable to our results. In addition to age, PWV was positively associated with systolic BP (Kim et al., 2014). In our study, the omnivore group had a higher PWV and also a significantly higher systolic BP however this correlation was not significant with our small sample. Further, differences in AI between males and females exist due to variability in height (McGrath et al., 2001; Smulyan et al., 1998). Body height is an inverse determinant of augmentation due to earlier wave reflection (Hayward & Kelly, 1997). Hayward & Kelly (1997) found a significant negative correlation between height and AI that showed a higher AI in women due to their shorter stature. Although this did not seem to be demonstrated in our sample, we did have a small sample size. Likely with a larger sample size, the shorter average stature of females than of males and correspondingly shorter arterial trees, would result in an earlier wave reflection and higher AI in female subjects (McGrath et al., 2001; Smulyan et al., 1998).

#### 4.5 Anthropometric and Biochemical Parameters

Our vegetarian and omnivore groups were well matched for age and BMI.

Omnivores did participate in significantly more vigorous-intensity physical activity, which may have produced cardioprotective effects (Swain & Franklin, 2006). The differences in height and weight between the two groups can likely be attributed to differences in the sex make-up of the respective groups.

Hematological analysis in our subjects revealed significantly higher serum hemoglobin levels in omnivores compared to vegetarians, which is likely due to the vegetarian group being entirely female, and the omnivore group being predominantly male, as females generally have lower hemoglobin levels (Murphy, 2014). Surprisingly, total cholesterol and triglycerides were higher in the vegetarian group, despite lower intakes of foods containing these nutrients in our vegetarian group. Total cholesterol values may be attributed to a slightly higher HDL- and LDL-cholesterol values amongst vegetarians that was still within the normal range. Further, one vegetarian subject revealed that her cholesterol may be elevated due to family history. Triglyceride elevation has been associated with oral contraceptive use in women (Castelli, 1986). Serum triglycerides may have been elevated in our vegetarian group due to use of oral contraceptives in half (50%) of our female, vegetarian subjects. Studies report increases in triglycerides, total cholesterol, and LDL-C in females using hormonal contraceptives (Dilshad et al., 2016; Mohammad et al., 2013). Also, estrogen can influence the lipid profile. Hormonal contraceptives, which contain estrogen, increase triglyceride levels by altering the genomic pathway, in which alterations in estrogen affect hepatic apolipoprotein regulation (Jones et al., 2002; Mendelsohn & Karas, 1999; Sitruk-Ware et al., 2007).

#### 4.6 Limitations

There are several limitations in this study. First, our population is small and we are currently underpowered to fully support our hypothesis. Also, this study included a total of 7 males, all omnivores, and 11 females, the vast majority of which were vegetarians. Participants were recruited through a variety of sources and an effort was made to target campus clubs as well as local grocery stores, farmer's markets and restaurants that catered to a vegetarian population. Despite our efforts, we were unable to recruit any male vegetarians. Further, our vegetarian group had a significantly lower intake of vitamin B-12 than their omnivorous counterparts suggesting that may have suboptimal status, however, we did not measure serum B12 levels. Therefore, the results of this study may not be applicable to the vegetarian population at this point in time, until we are better powered and have an equal distribution of the sexes between groups.

#### 4.7 Conclusions

In conclusion, following a vegetarian diet for at least five years was not associated with significant improvements in vascular function when compared with a non-vegetarian diet including habitual red-meat consumption in healthy individuals. However, vegetarians did exhibit a significantly lower brachial and central systolic BP. A larger, more diverse sample of subjects should be explored in future studies. Further research is warranted assessing a larger sample size with equal sex distribution between groups.

#### REFERENCES

- Abbasi, F., McLaughlin, T., Lamendola, C., Kim, H. S., Tanaka, A., Wang, T., &
  Reaven, G. M. (2000). High carbohydrate diets, triglyceride-rich lipoproteins, and coronary heart disease risk. *The American journal of cardiology*, 85(1), 45-48.
- Aburto, N. J., Hanson, S., Gutierrez, H., Hooper, L., Elliott, P., & Cappuccio, F. P. (2013). Effect of increased potassium intake on cardiovascular risk factors and disease: systematic review and meta-analyses. *Bmj*, *346*, f1378.
- Adams, M. R., McCredie, R., Jessup, W., Robinson, J., Sullivan, D., & Celermajer, D. S. (1997). Oral L-arginine improves endothelium-dependent dilatation and reduces monocyte adhesion to endothelial cells in young men with coronary artery disease. *Atherosclerosis*, *129(2)*, 261-9.
- Anderson, T. J., Uehata, A., Gerhard, M. D., Meredith, I. T., Knab, S., Delagrange, D., Yeung, A. C. (1995). Close relation of endothelial function in the human coronary and peripheral circulations. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 1995 Nov* 1;26(5):1235-41.
- Appel, L. J., Moore, T. J., Obarzanek, E., Vollmer, W. M., Svetkey, L. P., Sacks, F. M., & Lin, P. H. (1997). A clinical trial of the effects of dietary patterns on blood pressure. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *336*(16), 1117-1124.

- Appleby PN, Thorogood M, Mann JI, Key TJ. (1999). The oxford vegetarian study: An overview. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *70(3)*, 525-31.
- Ashaye, A., Gaziano, J., & Djoussé, L. (2011). Red meat consumption and risk of heart failure in male physicians. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases,* 21(12), 941-6.
- Beeson WL, Mills PK, Phillips RL, et al. (1989). Chronic disease among seventh-day adventists, a low-risk group: Rationale, methodology, and description of the population. *Cancer, 64(3),* 570-81.
- Berkow, S. E., & Barnard, N. D. (2005). Blood pressure regulation and vegetarian diets. *Nutrition Reviews*, *63*(1), 1-8.
- Bernstein, A. M., Sun, Q., Hu, F. B., Stampfer, M. J., Manson, J. E., & Willett, W. C. (2010). Major dietary protein sources and risk of coronary heart disease in women. *Circulation*, 122(9), 876-83.
- Bhupathiraju, S. N., & Tucker, K. L. (2011). Coronary heart disease prevention: nutrients, foods, and dietary patterns. *Clinica Chimica Acta; International Journal of Clinical Chemistry*, 412, 17-18.
- Butler TL, Fraser GE, Beeson WL, et al. (2008). Cohort profile: The Adventist health study-2 (AHS-2). *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *37(2)*, 260-5.
- Castelli, W. P. (1986). The triglyceride issue: a view from Framingham. *American heart journal*, *112*(2), 432-437.

- Chang-Claude J, Frentzel-Beyme R, Eilber U. (1992). Mortality pattern of German vegetarians after 11 years of follow-up. *Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.)*, 3(5), 395-401.
- Chang-Claude, J., Hermann, S., Eilber, U., & Steindorf, K. (2005). Lifestyle determinants and mortality in German vegetarians and health-conscious persons: results of a 21year follow-up. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention: a Publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, Cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology, 14(4),* 963-8.
- Chhabra, N. (2009). Endothelial dysfunction A predictor of atherosclerosis. *Internet Journal of Medical Update*, 4(1), 33-41. doi:10.4314/ijmu.v4i1.39872
- Cooke, J. P., Rossitch, E., Andon, N. A., Loscalzo, J., & Dzau, V. J. (1991). Flow activates an endothelial potassium channel to release an endogenous nitrovasodilator. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 88(5), 1663–71.
- Corretti, M. C., Anderson, T. J., Benjamin, E. J., Celermajer, D., Charbonneau, F.,
  Creager, M. A., Deanfield, J., Drexler, H., Gerhard-Herman, M., Herrington, D.,
  Vallance, P., Vita, J. & Vogel, R. (2002). Guidelines for the ultrasound assessment
  of endothelial-dependent flow-mediated vasodilation of the brachial artery: a report
  of the International Brachial Artery Reactivity Task Force. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *39(2)*, 257-65.
- Coulston, A. M., Liu, G. C., & Reaven, G. M. (1983). Plasma glucose, insulin and lipid responses to high-carbohydrate low-fat diets in normal humans. *Metabolism*, 32(1), 52-56.

- Crowe, F. L., Appleby, P. N., Travis, R. C., & Key, T. J. (2013). Risk of hospitalization or death from ischemic heart disease among British vegetarians and nonvegetarians: results from the EPIC-Oxford cohort study. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *97(3)*, 597-603.
- Dilshad, H., Ismail, R., Naveed, S., Usmanghani, K., Alam, M. T., & Sarwar, G. (2016).
  Effect of hormonal contraceptives on serum lipids: A prospective study. *Pak J Pharm Sci*, 29, 1379-1382.
- Edwards, D. G., Roy, M. S., & Prasad, R. Y. (2008). Wave reflection augments central systolic and pulse pressures during facial cooling. *American Journal of Physiology. Heart and Circulatory Physiology, 294*(6), H2535-9.
- Elliott, P., Stamler, J., Dyer, A. R., Appel, L., Dennis, B., Kesteloot, H., & Zhou, B.
  (2006). Association between protein intake and blood pressure: the INTERMAP
  Study. *Archives of internal medicine*, *166*(1), 79-87.
- Elmadfa, I., & Singer, I. (2009). Vitamin B-12 and homocysteine status among vegetarians: a global perspective. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 89(5), 1693S-1698S.
- Félétou, M. (2011). Endothelium-Dependent Regulation of Vascular Tone, *The* endothelium: Focus on endothelium-derived vasoactive mediators. San Rafael, California: Morgan & Claypool.
- Ferraro, R., Lillioja, S., Fontvieille, A. M., Rising, R., Bogardus, C., & Ravussin, E. (1992). Lower sedentary metabolic rate in women compared with men. *The Journal* of Clinical Investigation, 90(3) 780-4.

- Ferreira, C. (2014). Acute effect of cocoa on vascular function in chronic kidney disease patients: a pilot study.
- Fraser, G. E. (1999). Associations between diet and cancer, ischemic heart disease, and all-cause mortality in non-Hispanic white California Seventh-day Adventists. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 70,(3), 532-8.
- Fraser, G. E. (2009). Vegetarian diets: what do we know of their effects on common chronic diseases? *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *89(5)*, 1607-12.
- Fraser, G. E., Sabaté, J., Beeson, W. L., & Strahan, T. M. (1992). A possible protective effect of nut consumption on risk of coronary heart disease. The Adventist Health Study. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 152(7) 1416-24.
- Furchgott, R. F., & Zawadzki, J. V. (1980). The obligatory role of endothelial cells in the relaxation of arterial smooth muscle by acetylcholine. *Nature*, *288(5789)*, 373-376.
- Ginter, E., & Simko, V. (2012). Plant polyphenols in prevention of heart disease. Bratislavské Lekárske Listy, 113(8), 476-80.
- Groot, H. J., Rossman, M. J., Trinity, J. D., Layec, G., Ives, S. J., & Richardson, R. S.
  (2015). Passive leg movement-induced vasodilation in women: the impact of age. *American Journal of Physiology*, 309, 3.
- Harris, R. A., Nishiyama, S. K., Wray, D. W., & Richardson, R. S. (2010). Ultrasound assessment of flow-mediated dilation. *Hypertension*, *55*(5), 1075-1085.
- Hayward, C. S., & Kelly, R. P. (1997). Gender-related differences in the central arterial pressure waveform. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *30*(7), 1863-1871.

- Huang, T., Yang, B., Zheng, J., Li, G., Wahlqvist, M. L., & Li, D. (2012). Cardiovascular
  Disease Mortality and Cancer Incidence in Vegetarians: A Meta-Analysis and
  Systematic Review. *Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism*, 60(4), 233-240.
- Ives, S. J., McDaniel, J., Witman, M. A., & Richardson, R. S. (2013). Passive limb movement: evidence of mechanoreflex sex specificity. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 304(1), H154-H161.
- Jablonski, K. L., Gates, P. E., Pierce, G. L., & Seals, D. R. (2009). Low dietary sodium intake is associated with enhanced vascular endothelial function in middle-aged and older adults with elevated systolic blood pressure. *Therapeutic Advances in Cardiovascular Disease*, 3(5), 347-356.
- Joannides, R., Haefeli, W. E., Linder, L., Richard, V., Bakkali, E. H., Thuillez, C., & Lüscher, T. F. (1995). Nitric oxide is responsible for flow-dependent dilatation of human peripheral conduit arteries in vivo. *Circulation*, *91*(5), 1314-9.
- Jones, D. R., Schmidt, R. J., Pickard, R. T., Foxworthy, P. S., & Eacho, P. I. (2002).
   Estrogen receptor-mediated repression of human hepatic lipase gene transcription.
   *Journal of lipid research*, 43(3), 383-391.
- Kajikawa, M., Maruhashi, T., Matsumoto, T., Iwamoto, Y., Iwamoto, A., Oda, N., &
  Kihara, Y. (2016). Relationship between serum triglyceride levels and endothelial
  function in a large community-based study. *Atherosclerosis*, 249, 70-75.
- Key, T. J., Appleby, P. N., Davey, G. K., Allen, N. E., Spencer, E. A., & Travis, R. C. (2003). Mortality in British vegetarians: review and preliminary results from EPIC-Oxford. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *78(3)*, 533-8.

- Key, T. J., Appleby, P. N., & Rosell, M. S. (2006). Health effects of vegetarian and vegan diets. *The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 65(1), 35-41.
- Key, T. J., Fraser, G. E., Thorogood, M., Appleby, P. N., Beral, V., Reeves, G., Burr, M. L., Chang-Claude, J., Frentzel-Beyme, R., Kuzma, J.W., Mann, J., & McPherson, K. (1999). Mortality in vegetarians and nonvegetarians: detailed findings from a collaborative analysis of 5 prospective studies. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *70(3)*, 516-24.
- Key, T. J. A., Thorogood, M., Appleby, P. N., & Burr, M. L. (1996). Dietary habits and mortality in 11,000 vegetarians and health conscious people: results of a 17 year follow up. *British Medical Journal*, *313*(7060), 775-9.
- Kim, J. Y., Park, J. B., Kim, D. S., Kim, K. S., Jeong, J. W., Park, J. C., Oh, B. H., &
  KAAS investigators. (2014). Gender Difference in Arterial Stiffness in a Multicenter
  Cross-Sectional Study: The Korean Arterial Aging Study (KAAS). *Pulse (basel, Switzerland), 2,* 1-4.
- Koeth, R. A., Wang, Z., Levison, B. S., Buffa, J. A., Org, E., Sheehy, B. T., Britt, E. B.,
  Fu, X., Wu, Y., Li, L., Smith, J.D., DiDonato, J.A., Chen, J., Li, H., Wu, G., Lewis,
  J.D., Warrier, M., Brown, J.M., Krauss, R.M., Tang, W.H., Bushman, F.D., Lusis,
  A.J., & Hazen, S. L. (2013). Intestinal microbiota metabolism of L-carnitine, a
  nutrient in red meat, promotes atherosclerosis. *Nature Medicine*, *19(5)*, 576-85.
- Kontogianni, M. D., Panagiotakos, D. B., Pitsavos, C., Chrysohoou, C., & Stefanadis, C. (2007). Relationship between meat intake and the development of acute coronary

syndromes: the CARDIO2000 case–control study. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 62(2),* 171-7.

- Kwok, T., Chook, P., Qiao, M., Tam, L., Poon, Y. K. P., Ahuja, A. T., Woo, J., Woo,
  K. S. (2012). Vitamin B-12 supplementation improves arterial function in
  vegetarians with subnormal vitamin B-12 status. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health*& Aging, 16(6) 569-573.
- Lambert, J., & Stehouwer, C. D. (1996). Modulation of endothelium-dependent, flowmediated dilatation of the brachial artery by sex and menstrual cycle. *Circulation*, 94, 9, 2319-20.
- Laurent, S., Cockcroft, J., Van Bortel, L., Boutouyrie, P., Giannattasio, C., Hayoz, D., & Struijker-Boudier, H. (2006). Expert consensus document on arterial stiffness: methodological issues and clinical applications. *European heart journal*, *27*(21), 2588-2605.
- Le, L. T., & Sabaté, J. (2014). Beyond meatless, the health effects of vegan diets: findings from the Adventist cohorts. *Nutrients, 6(6),* 2131-47.
- Lerman, A. & Burnett Jr., J. C. (1992). Intact and altered endothelium in regulation of vasomotion. *Circulation*, *86(6)*, 12-19.
- Lerman, A., Burnett, J. C. J., Higano, S. T., McKinley, L. J., & Holmes, D. R. J. (1998). Long-term L-arginine supplementation improves small-vessel coronary endothelial function in humans. *Circulation*, 97(21), 2123-8.

- Levine, G. N., Keaney Jr., F. J., & Vita, J. A. (1995). Cholesterol reduction in cardiovascular disease. Clinical benefits and possible mechanisms. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 332(8), 512-21.
- Libby, P, Ridker, P. M., & Maseri, A. (2002). Clinical Cardiology: New Frontiers -Inflammation and Atherosclerosis. *Circulation*, *105(9)*, 1135-43.
- Lin, C.L., Fang, T.C., & Gueng, M.K. (2001). Vascular dilatory functions of ovolactovegetarians compared with omnivores. *Atherosclerosis*, *158(1)*, 247-51.
- Lofgren, I. E., Herron, K. L., West, K. L., Zern, T. L., Patalay, M., Koo, S. I., & Fernandez, M. L. (2005). Carbohydrate intake is correlated with biomarkers for coronary heart disease in a population of overweight premenopausal women. *The Journal of nutritional biochemistry*, *16*(4), 245-250.
- Lopez-Garcia, E., Schulze, M. B., Fung, T. T., Meigs, J. B., Rifai, N., Manson, J. E., & Hu, F. B. (2004). Major dietary patterns are related to plasma concentrations of markers of inflammation and endothelial dysfunction. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 80(4), 1029-35.
- Lu, S. C., Wu, W. H., Lee, C. A., Chou, H. F., Lee, H. R., & Huang, P. C. (2000). LDL of Taiwanese vegetarians are less oxidizable than those of omnivores. *The Journal of Nutrition*, *130(*6) 1591-6.
- McDaniel, J., Fjeldstad, A. S., Ives, S., Hayman, M., Kithas, P., & Richardson, R. S. (2010). Central and peripheral contributors to skeletal muscle hyperemia: response to passive limb movement. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *108*(1), 76-84.

- McDonough, A. A., & Nguyen, M. T. (2012). How does potassium supplementation lower blood pressure? *American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology*, 302(9), F1224-F1225.
- McEvoy, C. T., Temple, N., & Woodside, J. V. (2012). Vegetarian diets, low-meat diets and health: a review. *Public Health Nutrition*, *15(12)*, 2287-94.
- McGrath, B. P., Liang, Y. L., Kotsopoulos, D., & Cameron, J. D. (2001). Impact of physical and physiological factors on arterial function. *Clinical and experimental pharmacology and physiology*, 28(12), 1104-1107.
- Melina, V., Craig, W., & Levin, S. (2016). Position of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics: Vegetarian Diets. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *116*(12) 1970-1980.
- Mendelsohn, M. E., & Karas, R. H. (1999). The protective effects of estrogen on the cardiovascular system. *New England journal of medicine*, *340*(23), 1801-1811.
- Mente, A., de, K. L., Shannon, H. S., & Anand, S. S. (2009). A systematic review of the evidence supporting a causal link between dietary factors and coronary heart disease. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 169(7), 659-69.
- Micha, R., Wallace, S. K., & Mozaffarian, D. (2010). Red and processed meat consumption and risk of incident coronary heart disease, stroke, and diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Circulation*, *121(21)*, 2271-83.
- Mitchell, G. F., Parise, H., Benjamin, E. J., Larson, M. G., Keyes, M. J., Vita, J. A., & Levy, D. (2004). Changes in arterial stiffness and wave reflection with advancing age in healthy men and women. *Hypertension*, 43(6), 1239-1245.

- Mitchell, G. F., van Buchem, M. A., Sigurdsson, S., Gotal, J. D., Jonsdottir, M. K., Kjartansson, Ó., & Launer, L. J. (2011). Arterial stiffness, pressure and flow pulsatility and brain structure and function: the Age, Gene/Environment Susceptibility–Reykjavik study. *Brain*, 134(11), 3398-3407.
- Mitchell, G. F., Wang, N., Palmisano, J. N., Larson, M. G., Hamburg, N. M., Vita, J. A.,
  & Vasan, R. S. (2010). Hemodynamic Correlates of Blood Pressure Across the Adult
  Age Spectrum Clinical Perspective. *Circulation*, *122*(14), 1379-1386.
- Mohammad, N. S., Nazli, R., Khan, M. A., Akhtar, T., Ahmad, J., & Zafar, Z. (2013).
  Effect of combined oral contraceptive pills on lipid profile, blood pressure and body mass index in women of child bearing age. *KMUJ-Khyber Medical University Journal*, 5(1).
- Mortensen, S. P., Askew, C. D., Walker, M., Nyberg, M., & Hellsten, Y. (2012). The hyperaemic response to passive leg movement is dependent on nitric oxide: A new tool to evaluate endothelial nitric oxide function. *The Journal of Physiology*, 590(17), 4391-400.
- Mozaffarian D., Benjamin E.J., Go A.S., et al. (2016). Heart disease and stroke statistics-2016 update: A report from the american heart association. *Circulation*, *133*(4) doi:10.1161/CIR.00000000000350
- Mudau M., Genis A., Lochner A., & Strijdom H. (2012). Endothelial dysfunction: the early predictor of atherosclerosis. *Cardiovascular Journal of Africa*, 23(4), 222–31. doi:10.5830/CVJA-2011-068

- Murphy, W. G. (January 01, 2014). The sex difference in haemoglobin levels in adults mechanisms, causes, and consequences. *Blood Reviews*, 28, 2, 41-7.
- Murray, C. J., Lauer, J. A., Hutubessy, R. C., Niessen, L., Tomijima, N., Rodgers, A., & Evans, D. B. (2003). Effectiveness and costs of interventions to lower systolic blood pressure and cholesterol: a global and regional analysis on reduction of cardiovascular-disease risk. *The Lancet*, *361*(9359), 717-725.
- National Institutes of Health. (2015). Diet history questionnaire II & canadian diet history questionnaire II: Diet\*Calc software. Retrieved March 1<sup>st</sup>, 2016 from <a href="http://epi.grants.cancer.gov/dhq2/dietcalc/">http://epi.grants.cancer.gov/dhq2/dietcalc/</a>
- National Institutes of Health. (2015). Diet history questionnaire II & canadian diet history questionnaire II: Web-based DHQ. Retrieved March 1<sup>st</sup>, 2016 from <a href="http://epi.grants.cancer.gov/dhq2/webquest/">http://epi.grants.cancer.gov/dhq2/webquest/</a>
- Orlich, M. J., & Fraser, G. E. (2014). Vegetarian diets in the Adventist Health Study 2: a review of initial published findings. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 100(1), 353-8. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.113.071233.
- Orlich, M. J., Singh, P. N., Sabaté, J., Jaceldo-Siegl, K., Fan, J., Knutsen, S., Beeson, W.
  L., Fraser, G. E. (2013). Vegetarian dietary patterns and mortality in Adventist
  Health Study 2. *Jama Internal Medicine*, *173(13)*, 1230-8.
- O'Rourke M.F., Pauca A., Jiang X.J. (2001). Pulse wave analysis. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, *51*(6), 507-22.

- Pan, A., Sun, Q., Bernstein, A. M., Schulze, M. B., Manson, J. E., Stampfer, M. J.,
  Willett, W. C., & Hu, F.B. (2012). Red meat consumption and mortality: results
  from 2 prospective cohort studies. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *172(7)*, 555-63.
- Pan, W. H., Chin, C. J., Sheu, C. T., & Lee, M. H. (1993). Hemostatic factors and blood lipids in young Buddhist vegetarians and omnivores. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 58(3) 354-9.
- Pawlak, R., Lester, S. E., & Babatunde, T. (2014). The prevalence of cobalamin deficiency among vegetarians assessed by serum vitamin B12: a review of literature. *European journal of clinical nutrition*, 68(5), 541-548.
- Pierce, G. L., Beske, S. D., Lawson, B. R., Southall, K. L., Benay, F. J., Donato, A. J., & Seals, D. R. (2008). Weight loss alone improves conduit and resistance artery endothelial function in young and older overweight/obese adults. *Hypertension*, 52(1), 72-79.
- Phillips, R. L., & Kuzma, J. W. (1977). Rationale and methods for an epidemiologic study of cancer among Seventh-Day Adventists. *National Cancer Institute Monograph*, 47, 107-12.
- Pohl U., Holtz J., Busse R., Bassenge E. (1985). Crucial role of the endothelium in the vasodilator response to flow in vivo. *Hypertension*, *8*, 37-44.
- Quyyumi, A. A. (1998). Endothelial function in health and disease: new insights into the genesis of cardiovascular disease. *The American Journal of Medicine*, *105*, 32-9.

- Rizzo, N. S., Jaceldo-Siegl, K., Sabate, J., & Fraser, G. E. (2013). Nutrient profiles of vegetarian and nonvegetarian dietary patterns. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *113(12)*, 1610-9.
- Rossman, M. J., Groot, H. J., Garten, R. S., Witman, M. A. H., & Richardson, R. S.
  (2016). Vascular function assessed by passive leg movement and flow-mediated dilation: initial evidence of construct validity. *American Journal of Physiology, 311,* 5.
- Sacks, F. M., Obarzanek, E., Windhauser, M. M., Svetkey, L. P., Vollmer, W. M.,
  McCullough, M., & Evans, M. A. (1995). Rationale and design of the Dietary
  Approaches to Stop Hypertension trial (DASH): a multicenter controlled-feeding
  study of dietary patterns to lower blood pressure. *Annals of epidemiology*, 5(2), 108-118.
- Salles-Cunha, S. (1998). McDonald's blood flow in arteries: Theoretical, experimental and clinical principles, 4th ed. *Journal of Vascular Surgery.*, *28*(2), 389.
- Schwingshackl, L., & Hoffmann, G. (2014). Mediterranean dietary pattern, inflammation and endothelial function: a systematic review and meta-analysis of intervention trials. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases*, 24(9), 929-939.
- Šebeková, K., Boor, P., Valachovičová, M., Blažíček, P., Parrák, V., Babinská, K., Heidland, A., & Krajčovičová-Kudláčková, M. (2006). Association of metabolic syndrome risk factors with selected markers of oxidative status and microinflammation in healthy omnivores and vegetarians. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research, 50(9)*, 858-868.

- Shimokawa, H. (1999). Primary Endothelial Dysfunction: Atherosclerosis. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology, 31(1), 23-37.
- Sitruk-Ware, R. L., Menard, J., Rad, M., Burggraaf, J., de Kam, M. L., Tokay, B. A., & Kluft, C. (2007). Comparison of the impact of vaginal and oral administration of combined hormonal contraceptives on hepatic proteins sensitive to estrogen. *Contraception*, 75(6), 430-437.
- Smulyan, H., Marchais, S. J., Pannier, B., Guerin, A. P., Safar, M. E., & London, G. M. (1998). Influence of body height on pulsatile arterial hemodynamic data. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *31*(5), 1103-1109.
- Stamler, J., Caggiula, A., Grandits, G. A., Kjelsberg, M., & Cutler, J. A. (1996). Relationship to blood pressure of combinations of dietary macronutrients. *Circulation*, 94(10), 2417-2423.
- Steinberg, H. O., Chaker, H., Leaming, R., Johnson, A., Brechtel, G. & Baron, A. D. (1996). Obesity/insulin resistance is associated with endothelial dysfunction.
  Implications for the syndrome of insulin resistance. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 97(11), 2601-10.
- Swain, D. P., & Franklin, B. A. (2006). Comparison of cardioprotective benefits of vigorous versus moderate intensity aerobic exercise. *The American journal of cardiology*, 97(1), 141-147.
- Szeto, Y. T., Kwok, T. C. Y., & Benzie, I. F. F. (2004). Effects of a long-term vegetarian diet on biomarkers of antioxidant status and cardiovascular disease risk. *Nutrition*, 20(10), 863-6.

- Tang, W. H., Wang, Z., Levison, B. S., Koeth, R. A., Britt, E. B., Fu, X., Wu, Y., Hazen,
  S. L. (2013). Intestinal microbial metabolism of phosphatidylcholine and
  cardiovascular risk. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 368(17), 1575-84.
- Thorogood, M., Mann, J., Appleby, P., & McPherson, K. (1994). Risk of death from cancer and ischaemic heart disease in meat and non-meat eaters. *British Medical Journal*, *308(6945)*, 1667-70.
- Townsend, R. R., Wilkinson, I. B., Schiffrin, E. L., Avolio, A. P., Chirinos, J. A., Cockcroft, J. R., & Najjar, S. S. (2015). Recommendations for improving and standardizing vascular research on arterial stiffness. *Hypertension*, 66(3), 698-722.
- Trinity J.D., Groot J.H., Layec G., et al. (2012). Nitric oxide and passive limb movement:A new approach to assess vascular function. *The Journal of Physiology*, *590(6)*, 1413-25.
- Trudeau, L. (2014). Central blood pressure as an index of antihypertensive control:
  Determinants and potential value. *Canadian Journal of Cardiology*, *30(5)*, 23-8.
  doi:10.1016/j.cjca.2014.03.010
- Tuso, P. J., Ismail, M. H., Ha, B. P., & Bartolotto, C. (2013). Nutritional update for physicians: plant-based diets. *The Permanente Journal*, 17 (2) 61-6.
- Tuso, P., Stoll, S. R., & Li, W. W. (2015). A plant-based diet, atherogenesis, and coronary artery disease prevention. *The Permanente Journal*, *19(1)*, 62-7.
- United States Department of Agriculture. (2015). Scientific report of the 2015 Dietary Guidelines Advisory Committee: Advisory Report to the Secretary of Health and

*Human Services and the Secretary of Agriculture*. Retrieved from http://www.health.gov/ dietaryguidelines/2015-scientific-report/.

- US Burden of Disease Collaborators. (2013). The State of US Health, 1990-2010: Burden of Diseases, Injuries, and Risk Factors. *Journal of the American Medical Association, 310(6), 591-606.* doi:10.1001/jama.2013.13805
- Van Dam, R. M., Willett, W. C., Rimm, E. B., Stampfer, M. J., & Hu, F. B. (2002).
  Dietary fat and meat intake in relation to risk of type 2 diabetes in men. *Diabetes Care*, *25(3)*, 417-24.
- Venturelli, M., Amann, M., McDaniel, J., Trinity, J. D., Fjeldstad, A. S., & Richardson,
  R. S. (2012). Central and peripheral hemodynamic responses to passive limb
  movement: the role of arousal. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 302(1), H333-H339.
- Vita, J. A. (2005). Polyphenols and cardiovascular disease: effects on endothelial and platelet function. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *81(1)*, 292-97.
- Vlachopoulos, C., Aznaouridis, K., & Stefanadis, C. (2010). Prediction of cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality with arterial stiffness: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 55(13) 1318-27.
- Wang, K. L., Cheng, H. M., Sung, S. H., Chuang, S. Y., Li, C. H., Spurgeon, H. A., & Chou, P. (2010). Wave reflection and arterial stiffness in the prediction of 15-year all-cause and cardiovascular mortalities. *Hypertension*, 55(3), 799-805.

- Wang, Z., Klipfell, E., Bennett, B. J., Koeth, R., Levison, B. S., Dugar, B., Feldstein, A.
  E., & Hazen, S. L. (2011). Gut flora metabolism of phosphatidylcholine promotes cardiovascular disease. *Nature*, 472(7341), 57-63.
- Whelton, P. K., He, J., Appel, L. J., Cutler, J. A., Havas, S., Kotchen, T. A., &
  Karimbakas, J. (2002). Primary prevention of hypertension: clinical and public
  health advisory from The National High Blood Pressure Education Program. *Jama*, 288(15), 1882-1888.
- Whelton, P. K., He, J., Cutler, J. A., Brancati, F. L., Appel, L. J., Follmann, D., & Klag,
  M. J. (1997). Effects of oral potassium on blood pressure: meta-analysis of
  randomized controlled clinical trials. *Jama*, 277(20), 1624-1632.
- Widlansky M.E., Gokce N., Keaney J.F., Vita J.A. (2003). The clinical implications of endothelial dysfunction. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 42(7), 1149-60.
- Williams, B., Lacy, P. S., Thom, S. M., Cruickshank, K., Stanton, A., Collier, D., & CAFE Steering Committee and Writing Committee. (2006). Differential Impact of Blood Pressure–Lowering Drugs on Central Aortic Pressure and Clinical Outcomes. *Circulation*, *113*(9), 1213-1225.
- Williams, M. R., Westerman, R. A., Kingwell, B. A., Paige, J., Blombery, P. A., Sudhir, K., Komesaroff, P. A. (2001). Variations in endothelial function and arterial compliance during the menstrual cycle. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology Metabolism*, *89*(11),5389-95.

- Yang, S. Y., Zhang, H. J., Sun, S. Y., Wang, L. Y., Yan, B., Liu, C. Q., Zhang, W., & Li,
  X. J. (2011). Relationship of carotid intima-media thickness and duration of
  vegetarian diet in Chinese male vegetarians. *Nutrition & Metabolism*, 8(1), 63.
- Yokoyama, Y., Nishimura, K., Barnard, N. D., Takegami, M., Watanabe, M., Sekikawa,
  A., & Miyamoto, Y. (2014). Vegetarian diets and blood pressure: a meta-analysis. *JAMA internal medicine*, 174(4), 577-587.

#### Appendix A

#### **INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL LETTER**



Thank you for your submission of New Project materials for this research study. The University of Delaware IRB has APPROVED your submission. This approval is based on an appropriate risk/benefit ratio and a study design wherein the risks have been minimized. All research must be conducted in accordance with this approved submission.

This submission has received Full Committee Review based on the applicable federal regulation.

Please remember that <u>informed consent</u> is a process beginning with a description of the study and insurance of participant understanding followed by a signed consent form. Informed consent must continue throughout the study via a dialogue between the researcher and research participant. Federal regulations require each participant receive a copy of the signed consent document.

Please note that any revision to previously approved materials must be approved by this office prior to initiation. Please use the appropriate revision forms for this procedure.

All SERIOUS and UNEXPECTED adverse events must be reported to this office. Please use the appropriate adverse event forms for this procedure. All sponsor reporting requirements should also be followed.

Please report all NON-COMPLIANCE issues or COMPLAINTS regarding this study to this office.

Please note that all research records must be retained for a minimum of three years.

Based on the risks, this project requires Continuing Review by this office on an annual basis. Please use the appropriate renewal forms for this procedure.

- 1 -

Generated on IRBNet

# Appendix B

# **MEDICAL HISTORY FORM**

#### MEDICAL HISTORY AND GENERAL INFORMATION FORM

Name:	Date:		
Address:			
City:	State:		ZIP:
Phone:	Age:		
Emergency Contact:		Phone:	
Do you have or have you had:			
	Yes	No	
Diabetes Mellitus:			
Kidney problems:			
High blood pressure:			
Heart disease:			
Stroke:			
Irregular heart rhythm:			
Other heart problems (specify):			
Peripheral Vascular Disease:			
Asthma:			
Other lung problems (specify):			
Any other significant or chronic problems (specify):			

If you answered yes to the last question, what significant or chronic problem do you have?

Do you ever have pain in your chest? 
Yes No

Do you ever have pain in your chest while exercising? 
Yes No

Do you currently smoke? See No

Appendix C

**GLOBAL PHYSICAL ACTIVITY QUESTIONNAIRE** 

# **Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPAQ)**



# WHO STEPwise approach to NCD risk factor surveillance

Surveillance and Population-Based Prevention Prevention of Noncommunicable Diseases Department World Health Organization 20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland For further information: \_ www.who.int/chp/steps

1

# GPAQ

Phys	ical Activity		
Next Pleas	I am going to ask you about the time you spend d se answer these questions even if you do not cons	oing different types of physical activity in a typical wee sider yourself to be a physically active person.	k.
Think unpa	k first about the time you spend doing work. Think id work, study/training, household chores, harvest	of work as the things that you have to do such as paid ing food/crops, fishing or hunting for food, seeking	d or
empl	oyment. [Insert other examples if needed]. In answering	the following questions 'vigorous-intensity activities' a	are
	tions	Poenonco	Code
Activi	ity at work	Kesponse	ooue
4		[	[
I	that causes large increases in breathing or heart heavy loads, digging or construction work] for at least 10 minutes continuously?	Yes 1	P1
	[INSERT EXAMPLES] (USE SHOWCARD)	NO 2 If No, go to P 4	
2	In a typical week, on how many days do you do vigorous- intensity activities as part of your	Number of days 👔 👔	P2
3	How much time do you spend doing vigorous-intensity activities at work on a typical day?	Hours : minutes	P3 (a-b)
4	Does your work involve moderate-intensity activity that causes small increases in breathing or heart rate such as brisk walking (or carrying light loads) for at least 10 minutes continuously?	Yes 1 No 2 If No, go to P7	P4
5	In a typical week, on how many days do you do moderate- intensity activities as part of your	Number of days	P5
6	How much time do you spend doing moderate-intensity activities at work on a typical day?	Hours : minutes	P6 (a-b)
Trave	I to and from places	-	
The r Now shop	next questions exclude the physical activities at wo I would like to ask you about the usual way you tra ping, to market, to place of worship. [insert other e	ork that you have already mentioned. avel to and from places. For example to work, for examples if needed]	
7	Do you walk or use a bicycle ( <i>pedal cycle</i> ) for at least 10 minutes continuously to get to and	Yes 1	P7
		No 2 If No, go to P 10	
8	In a typical week, on how many days do you walk or bicycle for at least 10 minutes continuously to get	Number of days	P8
9	How much time do you spend walking or bicycling for travel on a typical day?	Hours : minutes	P9 (a-b)
Recre	ational activities		
The r Now	next questions exclude the work and transport acti I would like to ask you about sports, fitness and re	vities that you have already mentioned. creational activities (leisure), [insert relevant terms].	
10	Do you do any vigorous-intensity sports, fitness or recreational ( <i>leisure</i> ) activities that cause large heart rate like [ <i>running or football</i> ] for at least 10 minutes continuously?	Yes 1	P10
	[INSERT EXAMPLES] (USE SHOWCARD)	$100 \ 2 \ 11 \ 100, \ go \ to \ P^{-1}3$	
11	In a typical week, on how many days do you do vigorous- intensity sports, fitness or	Number of days	P11
12	How much time do you spend doing vigorous- intensity sports, fitness or recreational activities on a typical day?	Hours : minutes	P12 (a-b)
## GPAQ, Continued

Physical Activity (recreational activities) contd.			
Questions		Response	Code
13	Do you do any moderate-intensity sports, fitness or recreational ( <i>leisure</i> ) activities that causes a small increase in breathing or heart rate such as brisk	Yes 1	D12
	walking,(cycling, swimming, volleyball)for at least 10 minutes continuously? [INSERT EXAMPLES] (USE SHOWCARD)	No 2 If No, go to P16	P 15
14	In a typical week, on how many days do you do moderate-intensity sports, fitness or recreational ( <i>leisure</i> ) activities?	Number of days	P14
15	How much time do you spend doing moderate-intensity sports, fitness or recreational ( <i>leisure</i> ) activities on a typical day?	Hours : minutes	P15 (a-b)
Sedentary behaviour			
The following question is about sitting or reclining at work, at home, getting to and from places, or with friends including time spent [sitting at a desk, sitting with friends, travelling in car, bus, train, reading, playing cards or watching television], but do not include time spent sleeping. [INSERT EXAMPLES] (USE SHOWCARD)			
16	How much time do you usually spend sitting or reclining on a typical day?	Hours : minutes hrs min s	P16 (a-b)

## Appendix D

## MENSTRUAL CYCLE QUESTIONNAIRE

Subject ID# \_\_\_\_\_

## **Menstrual Cycle Questionnaire**

Are your periods regular? Yes/No

If yes, what is the usual number of days between periods (from the beginning of one period to the beginning of the next)?

If no (irregular periods); periods start every: \_\_\_\_\_\_ to \_\_\_\_\_ days

If irregular, how long have cycles been irregular?

Are you using any birth control now (pills, patch, IUD)?

What is the date of your last period?